IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN HOLLOWAY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Brian Holloway received a fundamentally unfair trial. First, the trial court excluded evidence highly relevant to the complaining witness's credibility. In fact, the evidence the trial court held to be irrelevant and prejudicial was the complaining witness's prior similar accusation followed by a recantation. This error denied Mr. Holloway's constitutional rights to confront witnesses, to present a defense, and to due process.

Furthermore, two of the convictions should be reversed and dismissed because the State presented insufficient evidence. In addition, the trial was unconstitutional because the court's instruction and the prosecutor's argument diluted the State's burden of proof.

In the alternative, this Court should remand to correct an unauthorized sentence.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Mr. Holloway's constitutional rights to a fair trial, to present a defense and to cross-examine witnesses when it excluded relevant evidence that was more probative than prejudicial.

- 2. In violation of Mr. Holloway's constitutional right to due process, the State failed to prove all the elements of rape of a child, counts four and eight, beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 3. Instruction 3, and the prosecutor's argument relying on it and telling the jurors to trust what was in their guts, hearts and minds, misstated the definition of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and diluted the State's burden of proof.
- 4. The sentencing court exceeded its statutory authority in imposing combined terms of confinement and community custody that exceed the statutory maximum.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. The federal and state constitutions guarantee an accused the right to present a defense, to confront witnesses against him, and to a fair trial. Did the trial court deny these rights by excluding evidence that the complaining witness had recanted prior allegations of similar sexual abuse by a different individual, and does this error require reversal where the complaining witness's credibility was a central issue at trial?
- 2. Constitutional due process guarantees a defendant may not be convicted unless the State proves every element of the crime beyond

a reasonable doubt. To prove the crime of rape of a child, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused had sexual intercourse with the complaining witness. Sexual intercourse is defined as penetration of the vagina, however slight. Did the State fail to meet its burden on two counts where the evidence did not show penetration of the vagina?

- 3. The jury's role is to decide whether the prosecution met its burden of proof, not to search for the truth. The court instructed the jury that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an "abiding belief in the truth of the charge." The prosecutor emphasized this erroneous standard in argument and further diminished the burden of proof by telling the jury to rely on what was in their guts, their mind, their hearts. When it is not the jury's job to determine the truth, did the erroneous instruction and the prosecutor's reliance on it misstate and dilute the burden of proof in violation of due process by focusing the jury on whether it believed the charge was true?
- 4. The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) is the sole source of a trial court's sentencing authority for felony offenses. Under RCW 9.94A.701(9) the trial court must reduce the term of community custody where the combined terms of community custody and

confinement exceed the statutory maximum for an offense. Where the trial court imposed combined terms of incarceration and community custody that exceed the statutory maximum on three counts, must this Court order the trial court to correct the erroneous sentences?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brian Holloway's oldest daughter has special needs, and he has provided for her and been her primary caretaker since she was an infant. RP 427, 437, 546-47, 558. His younger daughter, G.S.R., lived with her biological mother outside Washington until she was ten years old. RP 335-36., 370. G.S.R. was born in December 1996. RP 333-34.

While living with her mother, G.S.R. reported that an individual identified as "Uncle Mike" touched her private area, over her clothing, while she was asleep. CP __ (sealed record at Sub # 127D, pp.139 (bearing stamped page number 122)). She reported the touching caused her to wake up. *Id.* During an ensuing investigation that was coordinated between law enforcement and child protective services in the state in which G.S.R. resided, G.S.R. admitted the allegation was

¹ A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed designating the documents at subfolder 127 (sealing order), 127C (under seal) and 127D (under seal).

false and the case was closed. CP __ (sealed Sub # 127C, pp.11-12 (labeled page numbers 10-11 of report).

Mr. Holloway assumed full custody of G.S.R when she was ten years old. RP 336, 428, 547. G.S.R. lived with him, his wife Stephanie Holloway, whom G.S.R. considered to be her mother, her older disabled sister and a younger step-brother. RP 335-36, 340-41, 424-25, 438-39. G.S.R. had a close relationship her father and his wife. RP 340-41, 354-55, 382-83, 428, 482.

In July 2011, G.S.R. told Ms. Holloway that Mr. Holloway had inappropriately touched her on the Fourth of July. RP 431, 542-43. The State initially charged Mr. Holloway with one count of child molestation in the second degree, one count of third degree rape of a child, and two counts of incest. CP 3-4.

Over time, G.S.R.'s disclosed increasing occurrences of the alleged abuse. *See* RP 367, 417. The State later amended the information to include five counts of child molestation, four counts of rape of a child, and two counts of incest. CP 9-13 (amended information), 53-57 (second amended information).²

² A chart at Appendix A indicates the charges alleged in each count and the corresponding testimony of the complaining witness produced in support of each count. In response to a defense motion to dismiss and during closing

Mr. Holloway sought records of G.S.R.'s prior recantation and moved to admit the evidence at trial. E.g., CP 16-19; RP 169-82. He obtained records, produced directly to the court, from several agencies, some of which showed that G.S.R. had reported being touched over her clothing while asleep by "Uncle Mike" and that she subsequently recanted the allegation. CP 29-31; CP __ (sealed record at Sub # 127D, pp.139 (bearing stamped page number 122)); CP (sealed Sub # 127C, pp.11-12 (labeled page numbers 10-11 of report)).; RP 124-39, 186, 188-92; see CP 32-35 (moving for additional discovery). The trial court reviewed the records in camera and kept them sealed from both parties. E.g., RP 148-54, 195, 203. In support of introducing the evidence at trial, or at least viewing the records and cross-examining G.S.R. or other witnesses about the recanted allegations, Mr. Holloway argued the similarity of the allegations, as well as G.S.R.'s prior recantation, made the topic quite relevant to her veracity on the current charges. CP 41, 58-63; RP 91-119, 148-52. The State moved to exclude the evidence, and the trial court agreed, finding it subject to the rape shield statute, irrelevant (although it recognized the case was a

argument, the prosecutor indicated which evidence the State alleged in support of each count. Inclusion of the chart is not intended to admit the sufficiency of the State's evidence as to any particular charge.

credibility contest) and, if relevant, more prejudicial than probative. CP 20-25, 36-40; RP 153-54, 169, 216-17, 220-22, 225-31, 237, 512-16. The records were kept under seal except for use on appeal. CP ____ (Sub #127 (order sealing)); RP 216-18 (ruling on in-camera review); RP 225-30 (renewed discussion, including that documents would be available for appeal); RP 265-66 (clarifying availability of documents for appeal).

At trial, G.S.R. testified to regular touching of her breasts (over clothing), buttocks, and genitalia that started in 2008. RP 337, 339, 341-64, 386-87. She testified she often cuddled with her father, and after falling asleep, would awaken to him touching her. *E.g.*, RP 339-46, 356-57. A clinical social worker who was treating G.S.R. testified once G.S.R. began disclosing, she disclosed some instances of digital penetration and some instances of rubbing outside her vagina. RP 419. Mr. Holloway testified in his defense and denied he had any sexual contact with G.S.R.. RP 554-55, 567.

Mr. Holloway was convicted as charged. CP 166-87; CP 198-214.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. Brian Holloway's constitutional rights to a fair trial, to present a defense, and to confront witnesses were denied by the court's exclusion of evidence highly probative of the complaining witness's credibility.
 - a. An accused has a due process and Sixth Amendment right to confront the complaining witness on her credibility.

"The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations." *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) (quoting *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973)). An accused's right to an opportunity to be heard in his defense, including the rights to examine witnesses against him and to offer testimony, is basic in our system of jurisprudence. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. "The right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses is [also] guaranteed by both the federal and state constitutions." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) (citing *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 23, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967)); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. 1, §§ 3, 22.

Denial of a defendant's right to adequately cross-examine an essential prosecution witness as to relevant matters tending to establish

motive or bias violates his Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him. *State v. Brooks*, 25 Wn. App. 550, 551-52, 611 P.2d 1274 (1980). "Where a case stands or falls on the jury's belief or disbelief of essentially one witness, that witness' credibility or motive must be subject to close scrutiny." *State v. Roberts*, 25 Wn. App. 830, 834, 611 P.2d 1297 (1980).

If the evidence is relevant, the State has the burden to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. The State's interest in excluding prejudicial evidence must "be balanced against the defendant's need for the information sought,' and relevant information can be withheld only 'if the State's interest outweighs the defendant's need." *Id.* (quoting *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 622). The integrity of the fact-finding process and a defendant's right to a fair trial are important considerations. *Id.* at 720. Therefore, for evidence of high probative value, no state interest is compelling enough to preclude its introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. *Id.*

b. The trial court violated Mr. Holloway's rights by excluding evidence that G.S.R. had previously reported and then recanted sexual abuse by another.

The trial court erroneously precluded Mr. Holloway from crossexamining G.S.R. on her recantation of a prior allegation of sexual abuse by a third party. RP 35-37, 153-54, 169, 216-17, 220-22, 230-31, 512-16. Mr. Holloway secured records that verified that G.S.R. had previously reported sexual abuse that was similar to the allegations here, that a law enforcement investigation ensued, and that G.S.R. subsequently recanted and the case was closed. RP 14-27, 91-119, 124-39, 148-52, 169-82, 186, 188-92, 195, 203; CP 29-35, 41-45, 58-63; CP (sealed record at Sub # 127D, pp.139 (bearing stamped page number 122)); CP __ (sealed Sub # 127C, pp.11-12 (labeled page numbers 10-11 of report))..3 The State objected to admission of the evidence and topic, and the court granted the State's motion to exclude. finding that the evidence was barred by the rape shield statute, was irrelevant, and was more prejudicial than probative. E.g., CP 20-23, 36-39 (State's motions to exclude); RP 14-34, 114-15, 129, 215, 220-22, 225-31. All three bases are unfounded.

³ Mr. Holloway learned of the recantation while investigating the case and after initial pretrial motions. RP 91-119. Thus, the initial motions and argument focused on the prior alleged abuse without discussion of any recantation or its implications for this trial. See, e.g., CP 16-19.

This Court's case law unquestionably demonstrates that the rape shield statute is inapplicable to prior sexual abuse. See RCW 9A.44.020. "Courts should not use Washington's Rape Shield law to exclude evidence that an alleged child victim had previously been abused." State v. Kilgore, 107 Wn. App. 160, 177, 26 P.3d 308 (2001) (citing State v. Carver, 37 Wn. App. 122, 124, 678 P.2d 842, review denied, 101 Wn.2d 1019 (1984)). The rape shield statute is not applicable to evidence of prior sexual abuse, as opposed to prior misconduct or consensual sexual history. Carver, 37 Wn. App. at 124. In such circumstances, the statute's purpose is not implicated because "the evidence is not prejudicial to the victims nor does it tend to discourage prosecution." Id.

"Instead," when evaluating the admissibility of prior sexual abuse, "courts should use the general evidentiary principles in ER 403 to balance the probative value of the evidence against the possible prejudice." *Kilgore*, 107 Wn. App. at 177 (citing *Carver*, 37 Wn. App. at 124). Here, reviewing the records in camera, the trial court found it related only to a prior accusation and a closed investigation and ruled the records would not be disclosed to Mr. Holloway as irrelevant to the charges. RP 35-37, 153-54; *see* RP 216-17. In fact, the evidence

established not simply that G.S.R. had previously reported sexual abuse, but that after reporting it and a coordinated investigation between Child Protective Services and law enforcement, G.S.R. recanted. CP __ (sealed record at Sub # 127D, pp.139 (bearing stamped page number 122)); CP __ (sealed Sub # 127C, pp.11-12 (labeled page numbers 10-11 of report)); CP 58-63. The prior allegations, in fact, mirrored those made here—G.S.R. was asleep and awoke to the accused touching her private areas. *E.g.*, CP 59.

The evidence was also highly relevant because the jury would have to decide ultimately whether it found G.S.R. credible. *E.g.*, RP 643, 650, 697 (State's closing and rebuttal argument, emphasizing centrality of G.S.R.'s credibility). "The more essential the witness is to the prosecution's case, the more latitude the defense should be given to explore fundamental elements such as motive, bias, credibility, or foundational matters." *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 619. Nonetheless, the trial court excluded the evidence as irrelevant.

Finally, the court's ruling that the evidence was more prejudicial than probative was likewise erroneous. As noted, because relevance was satisfied, the State bore the burden of showing the evidence should be excluded. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. This Court noted almost 30

years ago that evidence of prior sexual abuse is not prejudicial to the alleged victim. *Carver*, 37 Wn. App. at 124. Moreover, here the evidence Mr. Holloway sought to admit was not that G.S.R. had previously been abused but that she was not credible. The court cannot fairly shield a witness from evidence-based attacks on her credibility.

Further, the evidence was unlikely to cause confusion or waste time. Under ER 608, Mr. Holloway would have been limited to cross-examining G.S.R. or other witnesses on the topic of her prior allegation and recantation. But he likely would not have been permitted to admit extrinsic evidence in support.⁴ Accordingly, allowing Mr. Holloway to pursue this highly probative evidence would have occupied only minutes in the trial testimony.

In sum, the trial court erred in excluding all reference to G.S.R.'s prior allegations and recantation, and denying Mr. Holloway access to the documents that supported it.

c. The State cannot show exclusion of the evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

"Because suppressing this evidence denied [Mr. Holloway] his constitutional right to confront a witness, this error must be harmless

⁴ But see CP 62 (defense counsel argument that court should use discretion to allow admission of extrinsic evidence for impeachment).

beyond a reasonable doubt to avoid reversal." *Kilgore*, 107 Wn. App. at 178; *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985) (denial of opportunity to fully and effectively cross-examine deprives defendant of constitutional right to confront witnesses).

The State cannot satisfy its burden here. In *Kilgore*, the suppression of evidence that impugned the complaining witness's credibility was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt despite this Court's acknowledgment that the evidence at trial did not turn on a mere credibility contest between the complaining witness and the accused. 107 Wn. App. at 178-79. Here, on the other hand, the State's case depended on "the jury's belief or disbelief of essentially one witness." *Roberts*, 25 Wn. App. at 834. G.S.R.'s credibility was subject to close scrutiny. RP 237 (court recognize case comes down to he said, she said). The exclusion of evidence that demonstrated her propensity for untruthfulness on the very subject of the charges here was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

- 2. Counts four and eight should be reversed and dismissed with prejudice because the State failed to prove the essential element of sexual intercourse.
 - a. <u>Due process requires the State prove each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.</u>

A criminal defendant may only be convicted if the State proves every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22; *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 300-01, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004); *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). On a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court must reverse a conviction when, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, no rational trier of fact could have found all the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); *State v. Drum*, 168 Wn.2d 23, 225 P.3d 237 (2010).

b. Sexual intercourse is an essential element of rape of a child.

To satisfy its burden on rape of a child in the second or third degree, the State must prove that the accused had "sexual intercourse"

with another." RCW 9A.44.076(1); RCW 9A.44.079(1). In relevant part, the statute states

- (1) "Sexual intercourse" (a) has its ordinary meaning and occurs upon any penetration, however slight, and
- (b) Also means any penetration of the vagina or anus however slight, by an object, when committed on one person by another, whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex, except when such penetration is accomplished for medically recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes

RCW 9A.44.010(1)(a).⁶ Mr. Holloway's jury was instructed it must find the sexual intercourse element for counts four (rape of a child two) and eight (rape of a child three) and was provided the above definition. CP 114-15 (definitional instructions for rape of a child charges); CP 119 (defining sexual intercourse); CP 125, 129 (to-convict instructions for counts four and eight). With regard to the definition of sexual intercourse, the jury was instructed, "Sexual intercourse means any penetration of the vagina or anus however slight, by an object, including a body part, when committed on one person by another.

⁵ The degree of the offense depends upon the age of the alleged victim and his or her age relative to the accused. RCW 9A.44.076(1); RCW 9A.44.079(1). The elements are otherwise identical.

⁶ The definition of sexual intercourse also includes "sexual contact between persons involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex." RCW 9A.44.010. But that definition is not at issue in this case as there was no evidence of oral sexual contact.

whether such persons are of the same of opposite sex." CP 119. Mr. Holloway does not contest the validity of this instruction.

The sexual intercourse, or penetration, element of child rape is critical: sexual contact without penetration of the vagina or anus constitutes the separate crime of child molestation, not child rape.

RCW 9A.44.086(1); RCW 9A.44.089(1); RCW 9A.44.010(2)

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