#### NO. 44453-4-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

## STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

## BRIAN G HOLLOWAY, Appellant

# FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-01762-1

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

## **

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

## C. ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE
WAS PROPER AND THIS DID NOT DENY
HOLLOWAY A FAIR TRIAL, THE RIGHT TO
PRESENT A DEFENSE, OR THE RIGHT TO
CONFRONT THE WITNESSES AGAINST HIM

Holloway claims the trial court's exclusion of evidence of the victim's prior sexual abuse and alleged recantation was improper and denied him the right to present a defense, the right to a fair trial, and the

right to confront witnesses against him. Holloway was not denied his right to confront the witnesses against him, the right to present a defense or a fair trial. The trial court's exclusion of the evidence pertaining to the victim's prior sexual abuse and supposed recantation was not improper. Holloway's claim fails.

A defendant has the right to confront and cross examine witnesses adverse to him as guaranteed by both the Washington state and federal constitutions. Wash. Const. art. I, §22; U.S. Const. amend VI. However, this right is limited by general considerations of relevance. State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). A defendant does not have a constitutional right to admit irrelevant evidence, and sometimes even relevant evidence is excluded if it is too prejudicial or inflammatory. Id. at 624; State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). Holloway claims that the existence of a purportedly false prior accusation by the victim, some eight years prior to trial, was relevant. Evidence that a sex abuse victim has previously accused another of similar behavior is not relevant unless the defendant demonstrates that the previous accusation was false. State v. Harris, 97 Wn.App. 865, 872, 989 P.2d 553 (1999). This Court reviews a trial court's limitation on the scope of crossexamination for manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 20, 691 P.2d 929 (1984). Further, a trial court's determination of relevancy of evidence is within its sound discretion. *State v. Demos*, 94 Wn.2d 733, 736, 619 P.2d 968 (1980).

ER 608(b) provides that specific instances of conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking that witness' credibility, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence, but may, in the court's discretion and if probative of the witness' truthfulness, be inquired into on cross-examination. ER 608(b). All other evidence rules apply, and the subject of the crossexamination must be relevant and any probative value must outweigh the prejudicial effect. ER 401, ER 403. Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact...of consequence...more ...or less probable [.]" ER 401; State v. Clark, 78 Wn.App. 471, 477, 898 P.2d 854 (1995). A determination of relevancy of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Demos*, 94 Wn.2d at 736. Generally, evidence that a sexual assault victim has accused others in the past is not relevant to the current case, and therefore not admissible unless the defendant can show that the prior accusation was false. State v. Harris, 97 Wn. App. 865. 872, 989 P.2d 553 (1999) (citing State v. Demos, 94 Wn.2d at 736-37).

The issue of whether the victim's prior allegation was true or false is integral to the trial court's determination of whether the evidence was relevant and therefore admissible. *See Demos*, 94 Wn.2d at 736-37 (holding evidence a rape victim has previously accused others is not

relevant and not admissible unless the defendant can demonstrate the accusation was false). Even in cases from other jurisdictions, the courts have ruled that cross-examination of the victim about prior allegations of sexual abuse is only appropriate in the face of evidence showing that the prior accusations were false. *See e.g. White v. Coplan*, 399 F.3d 18, 24-27 (1st Cir. 2005) (allowing cross-examination of victim only after defense offered proof to a reasonable probability that the victim's prior accusation was false); *Redmond v. Kingston*, 240 F.3d 590, 591-92 (7th Cir. 2001) (holding trial court should have allowed cross-examination of victim about prior sexual assault claim when evidence convincingly demonstrated its falsity).

In Holloway's case, the only evidence that the victim's prior allegation of sexual abuse was false was one statement included in a police report, in which, according to a social worker, the victim "recanted her disclosure." CP \_\_\_ (sealed Sub #127C p. 11 (labeled page number 10 of the report)). This evidence, standing alone amid the circumstances of that report, and the victim's current insistence that the prior accusation was not false, is not enough evidence to establish a reasonable probability or to convincingly demonstrate the prior accusation was indeed false. It is also important to put the one statement Holloway has as evidence of the victim's recantation in context; it is clear from reading the entirety of the

report, that this "recantation" was made after the then 7 year old victim returned to her mother's home, where the prior abuse was alleged to have occurred, and that the mother was adamant that the alleged perpetrator was innocent and that what the victim had reported was false. CP (sealed Sub #127C, p. 11 (labeled page number 10 of the report)). It is also important to note that at the time of the trial, the victim maintained she had been previously sexually abused and though she could not remember the name of the person, she remembered he drove a blue truck. CP 37. Holloway never showed and never produced an offer of proof to the trial court that this prior accusation was indeed false. The only evidence he could have admitted pursuant to ER 608(b) was through the victim on cross-examination, at which point she would have denied fabricating a prior sex abuse allegation. The victim presently claimed it was true she had been previously abused; it is clear from the defendant's statements to police he had believed it was true. CP 37, 24. There are circumstances surrounding the situation which lead to untrustworthiness of a supposed "recantation" that occurred after the victim returned to the unsafe environment in which the abuse occurred and into the care of a mother who adamantly did not believe the victim and who was under investigation by protective services. The victim, 8 years later, now safely living in a caring, protective environment maintains her prior accusation

was not false. CP 37. The circumstances presented to the trial court did not give sufficient evidence for the trial court to find the prior allegation of sexual abuse was indeed false. The trial court did not improperly prohibit Holloway from cross-examining his daughter on this subject.

Further, appellate courts in our State have specifically considered whether prior false allegations of sexual abuse are admissible at trial. In State v. Mendez, 29 Wn.App. 610, 630 P.3d 476 (1981), the trial court properly excluded evidence of a victim's "arguably false" rape allegation on the grounds of relevance. Mendez, 29 Wn.App. at 612. In State v. Williams, 9 Wn.App. 622, 513 P.2d 854 (1974), the trial court did not abuse its discretion in barring defense from cross-examining the victim on a prior allegation of sexual abuse. Williams, 9 Wn.App. at 623. The Court, in finding the trial court did not abuse its discretion in prohibiting defense from cross-examining the victim on this subject, considered that though it may be easy for a victim to make this type of allegation and hard to disprove, it is also easy to allege a child victim has lied about sexual abuse. Williams, 9 Wn. App. at 623 (quoting People v. Hurlburt, 166 Cal.App.2d 334, 343, 333 P.2d 82, 75 A.L.R.2d 500 (1958)). The Court in Williams further considered that "[t]he courts should be vigilant in seeing to it that the privilege of cross-examination here approved should not be abused." Id. at 623 (citing Hurlburt, 166 Cal. App.2d at 343).

In *State v. Harris*, 97 Wn.App. 865, 989 P.2d 553 (1999), the trial court properly excluded evidence that the victim had previously made an accusation of rape against another person because the allegation was remote in time, the allegation was not an official complaint, there was no proof the allegation was false and the proposed evidence was impeachment by a prior inconsistent statement on a collateral matter. *Harris*, 97 Wn.App. at 872-73. The trial court's exclusion of the evidence was affirmed as defense presented no evidence the alleged prior accusation was false, the victim utterly denied making the accusation, and the only evidence of it was extrinsic and therefore inadmissible. *Id*.

To be admissible under ER 608(b), the witness' conduct must be relevant to her credibility regarding the subject of the testimony. *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 651, 845 P.2d 289 (1993). There are limits to the admissibility of evidence under ER 608(b). *State v. Wilson*, 60 Wn.App. 887, 893, 808 P.2d 754 (1991). Importantly, the instances of prior conduct must not be remote in time, and the evidence must be more probative than prejudicial. *Id.* (citing to ER 403 and ER 611). Here, the evidence of the alleged recantation proffered by Holloway was remote in time to the victim's testimony at trial and therefore was inadmissible under ER 608(b). The alleged recantation and alleged false accusation occurred

when the victim was 7 years old. CP \_\_\_\_, (sealed Sub #127C, p. 8, (labeled as page 7 of the report)). The victim testified in Holloway's trial one month shy of her 16<sup>th</sup> birthday. Over eight years had passed between the alleged false accusation and the time the victim's credibility came into issue. This is clearly too remote in time to be relevant in Holloway's trial. Further, a potential lie by a 7 year old child is quite different from a prior false accusation made by an adult. Given the circumstances of the supposed 'recantation,' the victim's age at the time of that accusation, and the case law on the subject, it is clear that the trial court properly excluded evidence of the victim's 2004 accusation against another man for a one-time abuse that another party later claimed she recanted.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of the victim's prior abuse and prior alleged recantation of that accusation. The evidence relating to the prior incident and the victim's prior accusation was irrelevant because it was too remote in time and because Holloway did not show and cannot show that the accusation was indeed false. Further, this evidence was more prejudicial than probative as the victim's actions as a 7 year old child show little, if any, indication of her veracity as an almost-adult teenager of 15 years old. Holloway was able to present his own defense, received a fair trial, and was able to effectively

cross-examine his accuser. Holloway's claim the trial court erred and violated his rights by failing to admit this evidence is without merit.

II. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED
AT TRIAL TO SUPPORT THE CONVICTIONS FOR
COUNT 4 RAPE OF A CHILD IN THE SECOND
DEGREE AND COUNT 8- RAPE OF A CHILD IN THE
THIRD DEGREE

Holloway argues there was insufficient evidence to convict him of Counts 4 and 8, Rape of a Child in the Second Degree and Rape of a Child in the Third Degree, respectively, because there was no evidence of penetration of the victim's vagina which is required to prove 'sexual intercourse.' Holloway's argument asks this Court to set aside years of authority which have held that the labia are part of the term 'vagina' and therefore penetration past the labia constitutes sexual intercourse. The State asks this Court to affirm Holloway's convictions on Counts 4 and 8, finding, as many Courts have in the past, that the term 'vagina' as used by the Legislature includes the labia of the female sexual organ.

The test for determining sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green,* 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the

State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Partin*, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906-07, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom. *State v. Theroff*, 25 Wn.App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254, *aff'd*, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980).

as "when the person has sexual intercourse with another who is at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim." Rape of a Child in the Third Degree is defined as "when the person has sexual intercourse with another who is at least fourteen years old but less than sixteen years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least forty-eight months older than the victim." RCW 9A.44.079(1). The term "sexual intercourse" for the purposes of sex offenses, including Rape of a Child, is defined as:

- (1) 'Sexual intercourse'
  - (a) Has its ordinary meaning and occurs upon any penetration, however slight, and
  - (b) Also means any penetration of the vagina or anus however slight, by an object, when committed on one person by another....

RCW 9A.44.010(1).

In determining whether the State met its burden of proof in showing that 'sexual intercourse' occurred in this case, we should first look to the construction of the statute and its intent and purpose. See State v. Montgomery, 95 Wn.App. 192, 200, 974 P.2d 904, rev. denied, 139 Wn.2d 1006, 989 P.2d 1139 (1999). If an ambiguity exists in a statute, "the primary duty of the court in interpreting the statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent and purpose of the Legislature." State v. Hennings, 129 Wn.2d 512, 919 P.2d 580 (1996). Words "in a statute are to be understood in their ordinary and popular sense." State v. Cain, 28 Wn.App. 462, 464, 624 P.2d 732 (1981). In doing this, a court should interpret a statute "so as to avoid strained or absurd consequences which could result from a literal reading." In re Detention of A.S., 138 Wn.2d 898, 911, 982 P.2d 1156 (1999) (quoting In re Detention of LaBelle, 107 Wn.2d 196, 205, 728 P.2d 138 (1986)).

In *Montgomery*, the Court of Appeals analyzed whether defense counsel was properly prohibited from arguing that penetration past the labia did not constitute sexual intercourse. *Montgomery*, 95 Wn.App. at 200. The Court looked to the intent and purpose of the statute in determining what the legislature intended in prohibiting "any penetration…however slight." RCW 9A.44.010(1)(b); *see Montgomery*, 95 Wn.App. at 200. The Court in *Montgomery* chose to "read subsections

(a) and (b) of RCW 9A.44.010(1) together" and found in that context that "vagina means all of the components of the female sexual organ and not just '[t]he passage leading from the opening of the vulva to the cervix of the uterus..." Montgomery, 95 Wn.App. at 200 (citing The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 1970 (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 1992) (definition of "vagina"), State v. Snyder, 199 Wn. 298, 91 P.2d 570 (1939), and State v. Bishop, 63 Wn.App. 15, 19, 816 P.2d 738 (1991), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1015, 827 P.2d 1011 (1992)).

Though as Holloway indicates the facts in *Montgomery* included an injury to the victim's labia minora, it is clear from reading the opinion that the Court did not hold that the labia minora only are included in the definition of 'vagina,' to the exclusion of labia majora. In fact, the Court found that all "components of the female sexual organ" are included in the definition of "vagina." *Montgomery*, 95 Wn.App. at 200.

In *State v. Snyder*, 199 Wn. 298, 91 P.2d 570 (1939), the Supreme Court considered whether penetration of the "lips of [the victim's] sexual organs" was sufficient to prove the crime of carnal knowledge. Similar to the current definition of sexual intercourse, the statute evaluated in *Snyder* required "[a]ny sexual penetration, however slight, is sufficient to complete sexual intercourse or carnal knowledge." *Snyder*, 199 Wn. At 300. The Court considered authority which stated that "it is not necessary

that the penetration should be perfect, the slightest penetration of the body of the female by the sexual organ of the male being sufficient; nor need there be an entering of the vagina or rupturing of the hymen; the entering of the vulva or labia is sufficient." *Id.* at 301. The *Synder* Court found there was sufficient evidence of penetration in this case, where the evidence was that the defendant has penetrated the "lips" of the victim's sexual organs. *Id* 

In State v. Delgado, 109 Wn.App. 61, 33 P.3d 753 (2001), rev'd in part on other grounds in 148 Wn.2d 723, 63 P.3d 792 (2003), the Court of Appeals again considered an attack against the definition of "vagina" and whether penetration of the labia suffices to prove "sexual intercourse."

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